OA 5-3-93

JAN 25 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WIREGRASS RANCH, INC.

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 82,463

DCA No. 92-01653

SADDLEBROOK RESORTS, INC. and SOUTHWEST FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

APPEAL FROM DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SECOND DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

> DAVID A. MANEY, ESQUIRE Fla. Bar No. 092312 MANEY, DAMSKER, HARRIS & JONES, P.A. Post Office Box 172009 Tampa, FL 33672-0009 (813) 228-7371

> > and

DOUGLAS P. MANSON, ESQUIRE Fla. Bar No. 542686 CAREY, O'MALLEY, WHITAKER & LINS, P.A. Post Office Box 499 Tampa, Florida 33601-0499 (813) 221-8210

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this Brief, the Petitioner below, WIREGRASS RANCH, INC., will be referred to as "Wiregrass."

The Respondent, SADDLEBROOK RESORTS, INC., will be referred to as "Saddlebrook."

The Respondent, SOUTHWEST FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT, will be referred to as "SWFWMD" or the "Agency."

Citations to the Record refer to the Record on Appeal of the Second District Court of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Saddlebrook is the owner of a golf and tennis resort in Pasco County, Florida. Wiregrass is the owner of lands adjacent to the golf and tennis resort. Saddlebrook invoked the jurisdiction of SWFWMD to issue permits for construction or alteration of a stormwater management system pursuant to §373.413, Fla. Stat., by filing an application on February 8, 1990 for a Management and Storage of Surface Water ("MSSW") Permit. (R:Vol.III, pp.405-406). On May 3, 1991, SWFWMD filed a "Notice of Proposed Agency Action and Staff Report", in which SWFWMD staff announced its recommendation that the requested permit be issued to Saddlebrook based upon the recommendation of its staff. (R:Vol.IV, p. 524).

Wiregrass, as the owner of property which was to be affected by the issuance of the permit, objected to its issuance by filing a Petition for Formal Administrative Hearing pursuant to §120.57, Fla. Stat., (1989) and the SWFWMD Rule 40D-1.521, F.A.C.. (R:Vol.I, pp.1-6); Saddlebrook Resorts, Inc. v. Wiregrass Ranch, 18 Fla. L. Weekly, (D)1590, 1591 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). The formal hearing requested in the Wiregrass Petition was held on December 2, 3 and 4, 1991, and on February 11, 1992. (R:Vol.X, p.1490).

SWFWMD and Saddlebrook filed a joint "Proposed Recommended Order" on March 2, 1991. (R:Vol.IX, pp.1300-1340). On the same day, Wiregrass filed its "Proposed Recommended Order." (R:Vol.IX, pp.1249-1281).

The Hearing Officer entered his Recommended Order on the Wiregrass Petition on March 31, 1992, overruling the objections made by Wiregrass in its Petition, and recommending that Saddlebrook's application for the MSSW Permit be granted. (R:Vol.X, pp.1420-1449, 1444-1445). On April 20, 1992, Wiregrass filed "Exceptions to the Recommended Order". (R:Vol.X, pp.1454-1473).

Before the Governing Board of SWFWMD acted on the Hearing Officer's Recommended Order or on the Wiregrass exceptions to that Recommended Order, Wiregrass filed a "Notice of Withdrawal or Voluntary Dismissal of Petition for Administrative Hearing" on April 23, 1992. (R:Vol.X, pp.1475-1476).

At the monthly public meeting held by the SWFWMD Governing Board on April 28, 1992, the Wiregrass "Notice of Withdrawal or Voluntary Dismissal of Petition for Administrative Hearing" and the Saddlebrook application for MSSW permit were heard as separate (R:Vol. X, pp.1488-1489). The District Staff agenda items. Counsel and the Acting General Counsel for SWFWMD advised the Governing Board that the "Notice of Withdrawal of Voluntary Dismissal of Petition for Administrative Hearing" terminated the authority of SWFWMD to act further on the Wiregrass Petition. (R:Vol.X, pp.1496-1497,1521-1522). Counsel explained to the Governing Board that because SWFWMD had not adopted Florida Rules of Civil Procedure or similar rules precluding or governing withdrawal of a petition before the Agency had acted on the Hearing Officer's recommended order, Wiregrass had the power to terminate the §120.57, Fla. Stat. proceeding on its Petition objecting to the

issuance of the proposed MSSW Permit by withdrawing its Petition. (R:Vol.X, pp. 1522-1523).

At the public meeting of April 28, 1992, Saddlebrook opposed the recommendation made by the District Staff and Governing Board's counsel, arguing that the Governing Board of SWFWMD should adopt a new rule or recognize an incipient policy prohibiting voluntary dismissal by a petitioner after the submittal of a recommended order by the Hearing Officer. (R:Vol.X, pp.1501-1521).

The Governing Board opted to adopt the District Staff recommendation to enter the Order Closing File on the §120.57(1) Fla. Stat. proceedings initiated by the Petition of Wiregrass on the application of Saddlebrook for an MSSW permit. (R:Vol. X, pp. 1530-1532).

Although the Governing Board of SWFWMD closed its file on the Wiregrass Petition and Objections, it also recommended "... that our legal counsel go back, revisit our Rules to see how we can address to prevent a similar occurrence in the future and make the report to the Regulation Committee, ultimately back to the Board." (R:Vol.X, p.1535). On April 28, 1992, the Governing Board issued its "Order Closing File" acknowledging the receipt of the "Notice of Withdrawal" stating that:

... This Notice of Withdrawal divests the District of jurisdiction to enter a final order in the above-styled matter and this file is hereby closed.

(R:Vol.X, p.1536).

Immediately following the consideration and entry of the "Order Closing File" on the administrative process, the Governing

Board acted on the SWFWMD staff recommendation to grant Saddlebrook's MSSW permit application. Without discussion or argument the Governing Board voted to accept the SWFWMD staff recommendation thereby authorizing the issuance of the Saddlebrook MSSW permit.

Notwithstanding the fact that Saddlebrook had received its requested MSSW Permit, Saddlebrook appealed the action of SWFWMD in closing the file on the Wiregrass Petition, contending Saddlebrook was entitled not only to obtain the requested MSSW permit but also to have SWFWMD enter a final order on the recommendations of the Hearing Officer in the proceeding on the Wiregrass Petition. Saddlebrook Resorts, Inc., 18 Fla. L. Weekly at 1591. No appeal was taken from the Governing Board's issuance of Saddlebrook's MSSW Permit.

In its opinion reversing SWFWMD's order closing its file on the Wiregrass Petition, the Second District Court of Appeal held that Wiregrass was not authorized to unilaterally dismiss its Petition or withdraw its objection to the issuance of the MSSW Permit; only the <u>permit</u> applicant had that power. On this point, the Second District Court of Appeal held, at p. 1591:

In administrative agency "permitting" or "licensing" context or process, a jurisdictional focus, as seen in McCoy and subsequent cases, is proper when (and perhaps only when) the party seeking to voluntarily dismiss the proceeding is the single "permit" applicant. f.n.1 [footnote here omitted.]

No suggestion had been made by Saddlebrook, Wiregrass or SWFWMD that SWFWMD lost jurisdiction to deal with the permitting process

under §373.413, Fla. Stat., after SWFWMD closed its file on the Wiregrass Petition. (R:Vol.X, pp.1495-1496,1504,1530). The argument could not have been made because SWFWMD did issue the MSSW permit to Saddlebrook after SWFWMD closed its file on the Wiregrass Petition. (R:Vol.X, pp. 1532-1533). Yet, in the footnote in which the Second District Court of appeal explained the quoted language, the Court stated:

Where the party seeking to voluntarily dismiss a permitting proceeding is a party other than the applicant, we conclude that jurisdiction of the agency is not lost by that third party's attempted or actual withdrawal from the proceedings.

The implication in this footnote that Wiregrass sought to "voluntarily dismiss a permitting proceeding" is not supported by the Record. Wiregrass dismissed its Chapter 120 Petition containing its objections to the Saddlebrook application for a MSSW permit; the dismissal of the Wiregrass petition did not purport to affect the Chapter 373 permitting jurisdiction of SWFWMD.

Following the reversal by the Second District Court of Appeal of SWFWMD's Order Closing File, Wiregrass filed a Motion for Rehearing on July 26, 1993. SWFWMD filed a Motion for Clarification on July 23, 1993:

". . . regarding the distinction made between a non-applicant petitioner [one who as an affected person invoked the jurisdiction of the agency pursuant to §120.57 Fla. Stat.], withdrawing its petition for a hearing and a applicant [one who invoked jurisdiction the agency pursuant of Stat.], §373.413 withdrawing its Fla.application, and the effect of such action on the District's continuing jurisdiction."

Both the Motion for Rehearing and the Motion for Clarification were denied on August 30, 1993.

Wiregrass filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida on September 27, 1993. This Court accepted jurisdiction on December 28, 1993, pursuant to the provisions of Article V, §3(b)(3), Florida Constitution, and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Fla.R.App.P.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal has confused the substantive grant of jurisdiction to SWFWMD found in Chapter 373, Fla. Stat., to regulate the use of water resources in a district with the power of SWFWMD to conduct the adjudicatory proceeding authorized by Chapter 120, Fla. Stat., upon petition by a party whose substantial interest is affected by an agency.

What the Second District Court of Appeal failed to recognize was that the Chapter 373 jurisdiction of SWFWMD to grant or deny a permit is not impacted by the withdrawal of a petition filed pursuant to Chapter 120.57. The withdrawal of a petition filed by a non-applicant objecting to issuance of a permit has no effect on the jurisdiction of SWFWMD to issue or deny the application for permit. The Chapter 373 jurisdiction of the Agency to act upon the application for the permit and the recommendations of its staff continues after withdrawal of the §120.57 Petition. The filing of a petition under §120.57 authorizes the adjudicatory procedures an agency must follow in acting upon the Petition. The withdrawal of that petition terminates only the power of an Agency to proceed further in the proceeding under §120.57 invoked by the petition; not, as wrongly assumed by the Second District Court of Appeal, the Chapter 373 jurisdiction of SWFWMD to grant or deny the pending application for the permit.

ر رومهادي

The concern of the Second District Court of Appeal was founded in its erroneous assumption that a non-applicant could terminate the jurisdiction of SWFWMD in the Chapter 373 permitting process by withdrawing his petition filed under Chapter 120. This concern reflects the failure of the Second District Court of Appeal to recognize that jurisdiction of the permitting process was in fact unaffected when Wiregrass withdrew its Petition objecting to the issuance of the MSSW Permit to Saddlebrook. SWFWMD's continuing jurisdiction over the Chapter 373 permitting process after the Wiregrass dismissal is evidenced by SWFWMD's subsequent issuance of Saddlebrook's MSSW permit.

The Second District Court of Appeal also erred in confusing the "informal proceedings" provided by \$120.57(2), Fla. Stat., with the hearing described in \$373.413(5), Fla. Stat.. An application for a permit may be granted with or without hearing pursuant to Fla. Stat. \$373.413 at the option of the agency. However, if the authority of SWFWMD to conduct a formal or informal proceeding pursuant to \$120.57 has been invoked by a party whose substantial interest is affected, SWFWMD has no "option" to go forward with the \$120.57 proceeding after the petitioner withdraws his petition.

SWFWMD maintains jurisdiction over the permitting process during the §120.57(1) proceeding through the ultimate exercise of its final order power by the Governing Board at the informal hearing to consider the recommended order and exceptions under §120.57(1)(b)(10), Fla. Stat., and Rule 40D-1.565 F.A.C.. Upon the

withdrawal of a petition filed under §120.57, the §373.413(5) hearing will be held on an individual MSSW permit application when the Governing Board will grant or deny the pending application for permit.

An agency has the power to adopt rules of procedure to govern the procedure to be followed in §120.57 proceedings. If an agency has adopted a rule of administrative procedure which precludes the withdrawal or dismissal of a petition after the hearing officer has announced his recommendations, the jurisdiction of the agency to act on those recommendations will continue, notwithstanding an attempt by the petitioner to dismiss or withdraw his petition.

C.E.Middlebrooks v. St.Johns River Water Management District, 529

So. 2d 1167 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988).

If the agency has not adopted a rule which prohibits the voluntary dismissal of a petition after the hearing officer has announced his recommendations, the withdrawal or dismissal of that petition by the petitioner will terminate the jurisdiction or authority of the agency to act on the petition. The agency may not thereafter act on the hearing officer's recommendations. John A. McCoy Florida SNF Trust v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services, 589 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

SWFWMD had no rule prohibiting the voluntary dismissal of a petition after a hearing officer announces his recommendations. SWFWMD therefore correctly recognized that when Wiregrass withdrew its Chapter 120 petition, SWFWMD's jurisdiction to act on the

recommendations of the Hearing Officer made in the Chapter 120 proceeding was at an end.

The opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal ". . . disagree[d] with their [the First District Court of Appeal] conclusion in McCoy, and SWFWMD's reliance thereon . . . " by assuming the flawed premise that the Wiregrass dismissal of its §120.57 petition terminated the Chapter 373 jurisdiction of SWFWMD to act on the Saddlebrook application for an MSSW permit.

ARGUMENT

THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN I. REJECTING THE DECISIONS OF THE FIRST AND FIFTH DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL WHICH HOLD THAT ABSENT THE PRIOR ADOPTION BY AN AGENCY OF A RULE PROHIBITING THE VOLUNTARY PROCEDURAL DISMISSAL OF A PETITION AFTER HEARING A ENTERS A RECOMMENDED ORDER, VOLUNTARY DISMISSAL OF THE PETITION TERMINATES THE AUTHORITY OF THE AGENCY TO ACT FURTHER ON THAT PETITION.

A proper analysis of the law and the effect of a voluntary dismissal taken in a §120.57 proceeding produced the decisions in John A. McCoy SNF Trust v. DHRS, 589 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) and C.E. Middlebrooks v. St. Johns River Water Management District, 529 So. 2d 1167 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988). The Second District Court of Appeal decision below is a result of the flawed premise that the jurisdiction acquired by SWFWMD pursuant to §373.413 to grant a permit was terminated by the dismissal of a §120.57 petition filed by an affected party who was not the applicant for the permit. Had the Second District Court of Appeal understood the distinction between the jurisdiction acquired by SWFWMD pursuant to \$373.413 and the authority acquired by SWFWMD to conduct the §120.57 proceedings upon the timely filing of a Petition by Wiregrass, the Second District Court of Appeal would have rendered a decision in accord with the precedent established in the other District Courts of Appeal.

The First District Court of Appeal was following the precedent established in RHPC, Inc. v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative

Services, 509 So. 2d 1267 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); Humana of Florida, Inc. v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services, 500 So. 2d 186 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), rev. denied, 506 So. 2d 1041 (Fla. 1987) when it held in John N. McCoy SNF Trust v. DRHS, supra, that when a petition challenging agency action is abandoned, the agency cannot continue the §120.57 formal proceeding and enter a final order.

After the McCoy Trust applied for a certificate of need for the construction of a nursing home, HRS issued a Notice of Intent to grant the application. A competitor, the South Florida Baptist Hospital, petitioned for an administrative hearing to contest this decision. The hearing was held under §120.57(1), and in due course the hearing officer announced his recommendations, concluding that not only should the petition of the South Florida Baptist Hospital be denied, but that the application of the McCoy Trust should also be denied.

The South Florida Baptist Hospital voluntarily dismissed its petition before HRS acted on the recommended order. HRS nonetheless entered a "final order" adopting the recommendations of the Hearing Officer, as a result of which the petition of the South Florida Baptist Hospital was denied, and the application for a certificate of need by the McCoy Trust was also denied.

The McCoy Trust appealed, contending that the voluntary dismissal of a petition for an administrative hearing, although after the hearing, and after the Hearing Officer had announced his recommendations, nonetheless divested the agency of jurisdiction or

authority to proceed further on the Petition. The First District Court of Appeal agreed, and reversed the order of the HRS.

Saddlebrook filed an application for a MSSW permit, somewhat similar to the McCoy Trust application for a certificate of need. In each case, an affected party, South Florida Baptist Hospital and Wiregrass Ranch, respectively, petitioned under §120.57 to air their objections to the issuance of the respective permits. each case, a hearing was held pursuant to the provisions of Fla. Stat. §120.57, and in each case, the Hearing Officer announced his recommendations which concluded that the petitions of the affected Hospital parties, South Florida Baptist and respectively, be denied. Again, in each case, before the Agency acted upon the recommended order, each of the affected parties voluntarily dismissed his petition. It is at this point that the cases become distinguishable because the Agency (HRS) in McCoy, despite the voluntary dismissal, entered a final order adopting the recommended order of the Hearing Officer, which led to a reversal of the Agency (HRS) order by the First District Court of Appeal.

In reversing the Agency order, the First District Court of Appeal cited RHPC, Inc. v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services, 509 So. 2d 1267 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) and Humana of Florida, Inc. v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services, 500 So. 2d 186 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), rev.denied, 506 So. 2d 1041 (Fla. 1987) for the principle that:

^{...} A voluntary dismissal of the petition for an administrative hearing divests HRS of jurisdiction to further review a [certificate of need] application.

The First District Court of Appeal also recognized that this jurisdictional principle had been applied to administrative proceedings before other agencies, citing Rudloe v. Department of Environmental Regulation, 517 So. 2d 731 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) and Orange County v. Debra, Inc., 451 So. 2d 868 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

In Orange County v. Debra, Inc., supra, Debra, Inc. filed a petition before the Florida Land Water Adjudicatory Commission (FLWAC) for a rule establishing a community development district. The hearing officer presided over the public hearing which followed. Based on the report of the hearing officer, the FLWAC staff recommended that further public hearings be held. Before the agency could act on the recommendation, Debra, Inc. withdrew its petition. The agency staff recommended that the petitioner's withdrawal be recognized on the ground that agency jurisdiction had been terminated.

Orange County objected, requesting that the FLWAC issue a final order denying the petition. Upon the refusal of the FLWAC to do so, Orange County appealed.

In affirming the order of the FLWAC to decline to issue the final order denying the petition of Debra, Inc., the First District Court of Appeal recognized and held that the "... withdrawal of the petition divested the agency [FLWAC] of further jurisdiction to proceed." Id., 451 So. 2d at page 869.

As further support for its conclusion that the agency had no jurisdiction or authority to maintain the proceeding after the

withdrawal of the petition, the First District Court of Appeal stated, at page 870:

... It is well-established that an agency has no jurisdiction to proceed beyond that granted it by statute; it has no inherent rulemaking authority. [cases omitted] Therefore, withdrawal of a Chapter 190 petition short of ruling thereon would deprive the FLWAC of jurisdiction to proceed to a final decision on the petition. [Emphasis supplied].

The Court's decision in Debra was followed in Humana of Florida, Inc. v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services, supra, where the Court noted, at page 187, that "... [B]efore an agency has 'review' jurisdiction, a timely petition for review must be filed. Conversely, where a petition is withdrawn, agency jurisdiction ceases to exist. ..."

The decision in Humana of Florida, Inc. v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services, supra, was cited by the Court in RHPC, Inc. v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services, Inc., 509 So. 2d 1267 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). As in the case below, the First District Court of Appeal noted, at page 1268:

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