018 53.04 3-14

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

FEB 18 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT,

Chief Deputy Clerk

WIREGRASS RANCH, INC.,

Petitioner,

Case No. 82,463

vs.

DCA No. 92-01653

SADDLEBROOK RESORTS, INC., and SOUTHWEST FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT,

Respondents.

ON REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT SADDLEBROOK'S ANSWER BRIEF

Stephen R. Patton KIRKLAND & ELLIS 200 East Randolph Drive Chicago, Illinois 60601 (312)/861-2000

Engla T. Brown
Fla. Bar No. 437069
ANNIS, MITCHELL, COCKEY,
EDWARDS & ROEHN
Suite 2100
One Tampa City Center
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 229-3321

Arthur J. England, Jr.
Fla. Bar No. 022730
Charles M. Auslander

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

[I]n a permitting process, the jurisdiction of an agency is activated when the permit application is filed. Jurisdiction to proceed in that permitting process to a conclusion of whatever process has been activated is only lost by the agency when the permit is issued or denied or when the permit applicant withdraws its application prior to completion of the factfinding process

(Brief at 29, quoting 18 Fla. L. Weekly at D1593.) Indeed, Wiregrass is forced to concede that this holding "is a correct statement of law." (Brief at 29.)

Instead, Wiregrass attacks a straw man -- the Second District's supposed assumption that, under Wiregrass' view, Wiregrass' withdrawal of its Section 120.57 petition "terminated the power" of SWFWMD under Section 373 "to grant or deny

[Saddlebrook's] pending application for the permit." (Brief at 8.)
According to Wiregrass, the Second District

failed to recognize . . . that the Chapter 373 jurisdiction of SWFWMD to grant or deny a permit is not impacted by the withdrawal of a petition filed pursuant to Chapter 120.57.

(Brief at 8.) Wiregrass parrots this straw man over and over again as if repetition will somehow make it true. (See, e.g., Brief at 6, 8, 11, 12, 17, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31.)

It is not. The Court made no such assumption. To the contrary, it noted that, after SWFWMD entered the "Order Closing File" on Wiregrass' Section 120.57 petition, "the governing board approved the issuance of Saddlebrook's MSSW permit application." Saddlebrook Resorts, Inc., 18 Fla. L. Weekly at D1591. Neither the parties nor the Court questioned SWFWMD's jurisdiction to do so. That was not even an issue.

What was at issue was whether Wiregrass' purported withdrawal of its Section 120.57 petition "divested" SWFWMD of "jurisdiction" to enter a final order adopting, rejecting or modifying the Hearing Officer's recommended decision, as Wiregrass had urged and SWFWMD had ruled below. (Order Closing File, Vol. X, p. 1536.) The Court framed this issue, and summarized its holding on it, as follows:

Saddlebrook contends that allowing the voluntary dismissal without the issuance of a final order in regard to the matters litigated before the hearing officer allows a relitigation at a later date of those matters even though the MSSW permit was issued to Saddlebrook.

. . .

We do not believe we are required to determine in this appeal whether or not Saddlebrook's concerns are justified or legitimate. That is a matter for SWFWMD to eventually determine. However, by construing Wiregrass' notice of withdrawal or voluntary dismissal to automatically terminate SWFWMD's jurisdiction, SWFWMD has effectively precluded itself from the ability to determine the very issues Saddlebrook now raises here.

18 Fla. L. Weekly at D1591.

Thus, the Court <u>did</u> recognize that Wiregrass' "dismissal" of its petition for a formal hearing under Section 120.57 did not divest SWFWMD's jurisdiction to proceed with the Section 373 permitting process. However, it went on to address the issue in this appeal, holding that Wiregrass' dismissal likewise did not divest SWFWMD of jurisdiction to proceed with the Section 120.57(1) "formal" proceeding Wiregrass had initiated:

Therefore, we conclude that <u>jurisdiction</u> of the agency to proceed with the permitting process is not lost because one or more of the parties desires to dispense with a formal proceeding or hearing. Neither is the discretion of the agency to proceed with a <u>formal</u> proceeding lost by the action of a party (who is not the permitting applicant) seeking to withdraw from the proceeding.

Id. at D1592 (emphasis in original).

Wiregrass' straw man is further refuted by an examination of its alleged "basis" -- what Wiregrass terms an "implication" from a single sentence in the Court's opinion that Wiregrass calls (mistakenly) a "footnote":

Where the party seeking to voluntarily dismiss a permitting proceeding is a party other than the applicant, we conclude that jurisdiction of the agency is not lost by that third party's attempted or actual withdrawal from the proceeding.

(Brief at 6, quoting 18 Fla. L. Weekly at D1591.) Read in context, it is clear that when the Court referred in this passage to the attempted dismissal of "a permitting proceeding", it meant any proceeding initiated as part of the permitting process, including a Section 120.57 petition like Wiregrass' here. See, e.g., id. at D1593 (referring to Wiregrass' dismissal "of a proceeding in the permitting process"). Similarly, when the Court referred to its conclusion that "jurisdiction of the agency is not lost," it meant not only jurisdiction to issue the permit (an issue that was not in dispute), but also "jurisdiction to proceed to a conclusion of whatever process had been activated," including entering a final order in a Section 120.57 proceeding filed as part of the Section 373 permitting process (the issue that was before the Court). This is made clear by the Court's holding:

To restate our conclusion, in a permitting process, the <u>jurisdiction</u> of an agency is activated when the permit application is filed. Jurisdiction to proceed in that permitting process to <u>a conclusion of whatever process has been activated</u> is only lost by the agency when the permit is issued or denied or when the permit <u>applicant</u> withdraws its application prior to completion of the fact-finding process.

Id. at D1593.

In short, the Second District did not "misapprehend" Wiregrass' argument. It simply rejected Wiregrass' argument, on grounds that Wiregrass nowhere disputes.

Equally unfounded is Wiregrass' related <u>legal</u> argument that Section 373.413 and Section 120.57 provide for two separate and distinct proceedings and two completely different types of hearings. (<u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, Brief at 20, 21, 24.) Although this point

is not central to the Second District's holding, it <u>is</u> critical to Wiregrass' attack.

If, as Wiregrass asserts, Section 120.57 governs only "hearings" and not the action of the Governing Board in approving a permit application "without a hearing" under Section 373.413, then Saddlebrook's permit application could move forward outside the provisions of Section 120.57. If, on the other hand, Section 120.57 governs not only the process of agency approval where a petition for a formal hearing has been filed, but also the process of agency approval where objections have not been filed, Wiregrass' "lack of jurisdiction" argument loses its force. As the Second District observed, Wiregrass' withdrawal of its petition -- even if it were accepted by SWFWMD -- would not terminate the Section 120.57 proceeding. It would simply mean a change in process from a formal proceeding under Section 210.57(1) to an informal proceeding under Section 120.57(2). This change would not deprive SWFWMD of its power to enter a final order. 18 Fla. L. Weekly at D1592. See, e.g., Fla. Admin. Code R. 28-5.503.

Thus, Wiregrass repeatedly calls the Court "confused" because it fails "to distinguish among the types of 'hearings' available under \$373.413 and \$120.57" and to recognize that the process whereby a permit is issued where no objection is filed is somehow exempt from Section 120.57. (Brief at 20. See also id. at 21, 24.)

In fact, it is Wiregrass that it confused. Section 120.57 expressly states that its provisions govern <u>all</u> proceedings

in which the substantial interests of a party are determined by an agency:

The provisions of this section apply in all proceedings in which the substantial interests of a party are determined by an agency. . . .

Section 120.57, Fla. Stat. (1989). That this specifically includes all action regarding permits is confirmed by SWFWMD Rule 40D-1.600, which provides that Section 120.57 governs "[a]ll District action regarding the issuance, suspension, annulment, withdrawal, revocation and denial of permits." Fla. Admin. Code R. 40D-1.600. As the Second District recognized:

[T]he agency permitting <u>jurisdiction</u> is invoked when a party seeks a permit; the <u>process</u> of exercising that jurisdiction is governed by either the "formal" or "informal" method provided by section 120.57.

* * *

It must be again emphasized that the permitting process is exercised only by means of one of two alternatives, formal or informal proceedings.

18 Fla. L. Weekly at D1591, D1592.

Section 120.57, therefore, governs and prescribes the process the agency must follow in ruling on an applicant's permit application where a section 120.57 petition is <u>not</u> filed in a Section 373.413 permitting proceeding. It also regulates the process the agency must follow when a third party such as Wiregrass files and then later attempts to withdraw a Section 120.57(1) petition for a formal hearing. If the agency accepts the withdrawal of the petition, the process simply changes from a Section 120.57(1) formal proceeding to a Section 120.57(2) informal proceeding:

[O]nce jurisdiction is invoked in a licensing proceeding the <u>process</u> may change from formal to informal or vice versa at the request of the parties and the <u>option</u> of SWFWMD.

18 Fla. L. Weekly at D1592 (emphasis in original). If the agency refuses to recognize the attempted withdrawal of the petition, the process continues as a Section 120.57 formal proceeding:

Neither is the discretion of the agency to proceed with a <u>formal</u> proceeding lost by the action of a party (who is not the permitting applicant) seeking to withdraw from the proceeding. This would be true even when the nonapplicant party seeking to withdraw is the party who first sought the formal proceeding.

Id. at D1592.

Section 373 is not to the contrary. It is a substantive grant of authority to water management districts to regulate surface water within the state, including the issuance of MSSW permits. It does not purport to set forth procedures for approving permits that are not governed by the Administrative Procedure Act. Thus, the following language from Section 373.413(5), upon which Wiregrass bases its argument, simply describes an informal proceeding under Section 120.57(2), which does not require a hearing:

If no substantial objection to the application is received, the governing board or the department, after proper investigation by its staff, may at its discretion approve the application without a hearing.

Brief at 22-23. <u>See also</u> Fla. Admin. Code R. 40D-1.501(2) ("Proceedings before the Board are informal proceedings. <u>A permit</u>

<u>applicant</u> or other affected person desiring a formal proceeding must submit a petition . . . ")⁵

In sum, Section 120.57 governs <u>all</u> administrative process where substantial interests of parties are decided. This specifically includes the process that occurs during a permitting proceeding under Section 373, whether it concerns the <u>applicant's</u> request for a permit or a <u>petitioner's</u> objections to the issuance of a permit.⁶

The intent of the Legislature in enacting this complete revision of chapter 120 is to make uniform the rulemaking and adjudicative procedures used by the administrative agencies of this state. To that end, it is the express intent of the Legislature that chapter 120 shall supersede all other provisions in the Florida Statutes, 1977, relating to rulemaking, agency orders, administrative adjudication, licensing procedure, or judicial review or enforcement of administrative action for agencies as defined herein to the extent such provisions conflict with chapter 120,

Section 120.72(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1989). <u>See also</u> A. England & H. Levinson, <u>Florida Administrative Practice Manual</u>, §11.02(a) ("One of the primary purposes of the APA was to bring procedural regularity to a wide range of agency functions . . . ").

6 Likewise unfounded is Wiregrass' attack on the following sentence in the Second District's decision:

Formal proceedings necessitate a hearing, whereas an informal proceeding may, at the request of the parties and at the option of the agency, proceed without a hearing.

See Brief at 23-24 (quoting 18 Fla. L. Weekly at D1592). This is an accurate and non-controversial statement of well-settled Florida law. See, e.g., Village Saloon, Inc. v. Division of Alcoholic Beverages & Tobacco, Dep't of Business Regulation, 463 So. 2d 278, (continued...)

⁵ Wiregrass' approach would lead to "balkanization" and lack of uniformity in the procedural requirements applicable to the myriad substantive grants of statutory authority to Florida agencies and thereby defeat the very purpose of the Administrative Procedure Act. As the Legislature expressly found in enacting the APA:

III. The Second District Properly Rejected McCoy.

When Wiregrass' straw man is stripped away, all that remains is Wiregrass' blind reliance on <u>John A. McCoy Florida SNF</u>

<u>Trust v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services</u>, 589 So. 2d

351 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), without any attempt to defend its analysis or to respond to the Second District's thorough refutation of its holding. (Brief at 12-19.)

In McCoy, McCoy and several competitors applied to the Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services ("HRS") for a Certificate of Need ("CON") for the construction of a nursing home. 589 So. 2d at 351. After a comparative review, HRS issued a Notice of Intent to grant McCoy's application, and a competing applicant filed a Section 120.57(1) petition for a formal hearing challenging HRS's proposed action. Id. at 351-52. Following the formal hearing, the hearing officer entered an order recommending that HRS deny both McCoy's and the competitor's applications. Id. at 352. Thereafter, the competitor voluntarily dismissed its petition. Id. HRS entered a final order anyway, adopting the

^{6 (...}continued)
284 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) ("Section 120.57(1) governs formal proceedings and necessarily requires the holding of a hearing. Informal proceedings under section 120.57(2), on the other hand, may proceed with or without a hearing.") (emphasis in original). Nevertheless, Wiregrass mischaracterizes this sentence as a holding that SWFWMD has "the option to proceed without a hearing" where one has been requested pursuant to Chapter 120.57. See Brief at 23. But that is not what the challenged sentence states. It expressly refers to the agency's option to proceed with a hearing even though the parties have waived one -- not to dispense with a hearing where the parties have requested one.

hearing officer's recommended decision and denying both McCoy's and the competitor's applications. <u>Id.</u>

The First District reversed HRS's final order. <u>Id.</u> The court noted that "[i]n other cases, [the First District] has established that a voluntary dismissal of the petition for an administrative hearing divests HRS of jurisdiction to further review a CON application." <u>Id.</u>, citing <u>RHPC</u>, <u>Inc.</u> v. <u>Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services</u>, 509 So. 2d 1267 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), and <u>Humana of Florida</u>, <u>Inc.</u> v. <u>Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services</u>, 500 So. 2d 186 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), <u>rev. denied</u>, 506 So. 2d 1041 (Fla. 1987). The Court stated that "this jurisdictional principle has also been applied to administrative proceedings before other agencies." <u>Id.</u>, citing <u>Rudloe</u> v. <u>Department of Environmental Regulation</u>, 517 So. 2d 731 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), and <u>Orange County v. Debra, Inc.</u>, 451 So. 2d 868 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

The McCoy court was wrong. To begin with, it failed to recognize the distinction between agency jurisdiction and administrative process. Had it done so, it necessarily would have concluded that the competing applicant's attempted manipulation of HRS' certification process could not deprive HRS of jurisdiction to enter its final order denying both McCoy's and the competitor's CON applications. The competitor's petition for a Section 120.57(1) formal hearing did not invoke HRS's jurisdiction; McCoy's CON application did. Consequently, the competitor's withdrawal of its petition could not divest HRS of jurisdiction to enter a final order; only the issuance or denial of McCoy's CON application, or

the withdrawal of that application prior to completion of the fact-finding process, could do that. In short, the competitor's petition for a formal administrative hearing affected only the process through which HRS exercised its permitting jurisdiction. It could not confer or deny jurisdiction.

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